
 

 

 
 

 
 

County Hall 
Rhadyr 

Usk 
NP15 1GA 

 
Friday, 1 March 2024 

 

Notice of meeting  
 

Standards Committee 
 

Monday, 11th March, 2024 at 10.00 am, 
Conference Room - Usk, NP15 1AD and Remote Attendance 

 

AGENDA 
 

Item No Item Pages 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest 

 
 

3.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting - 9th October 2023 

 
1 - 6 

4.   Planning Code of Practice 

 
7 - 28 

5.   Local Resolution Protocol 

 
29 - 36 

6.   Code of Conduct training (verbal report) 

 
 

7.   Meeting dates for 2024/25 
 
Monday 10th June 2024 at 10.00am 
Monday 16th September 2024 at 10.00am 
Monday 16th December 2024 at 10.00am 
Monday 17th March 2025 at 10.00am 

 

 

8.   Date of Next Meeting: 10th June 2024 at 10.00am 

 
 

9.   To consider whether to exclude the press and public from the meeting 
during consideration of the following items of business in accordance 
with Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, that it 
involves the information as defined in Paragraph 14 of Part 4 of 
Schedule 12A to the Act (proper officers view attached) 

 

37 - 38 

10.   Public Sector Ombudsman for Wales Decision Notices 

 
39 - 106 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Paul Matthews 
Chief Executive 

 
 

 



 

 

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
CYNGOR SIR FYNWY 

 

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE COMMITTEE IS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 
 
County Councillors: 
 
 
 
Independent Members: 

John 
R. Stow (Independent Member) 
R Williams-Flew 
P. Easy 
M. Gibson 
Frances Taylor 
Fay Bromfield 
Catherine Fookes 
 
M. John 
R. Stow (Chair) 
R Williams-Flew 
P. Easy 
M. Gibson 
 

 
Public Information 

 
Access to paper copies of agendas and reports 
A copy of this agenda and relevant reports can be made available to members of the public 
attending a meeting by requesting a copy from Democratic Services on 01633 644219. Please 
note that we must receive 24 hours notice prior to the meeting in order to provide you with a hard 
copy of this agenda.  
 
Watch this meeting online 
This meeting can be viewed online either live or following the meeting by visiting 
www.monmouthshire.gov.uk or by visiting our Youtube page by searching MonmouthshireCC. 
 
Welsh Language 
The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public through the medium of Welsh or 
English.  We respectfully ask that you provide us with adequate notice to accommodate your 
needs. 

 

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/


 

 

Aims and Values of Monmouthshire County Council 
 
Our purpose 

 

 to become a zero-carbon county, supporting well-being, health and dignity for everyone 

at every stage of life. 

 

Objectives we are working towards 

 

 Fair place to live where the effects of inequality and poverty have been reduced; 

 Green place to live and work with reduced carbon emissions and making a positive 

contribution to addressing the climate and nature emergency;  

 Thriving and ambitious place, where there are vibrant town centres and where 

businesses can grow and develop  

 Safe place to live where people have a home where they feel secure in;  

 Connected place where people feel part of a community and are valued;  

 Learning place where everybody has the opportunity to reach their potential          

 
 

Our Values 
 
Openness. We are open and honest. People have the chance to get involved in decisions that 

affect them, tell us what matters and do things for themselves/their communities. If we cannot do 

something to help, we’ll say so; if it will take a while to get the answer we’ll explain why; if we can’t 

answer immediately we’ll try to connect you to the people who can help – building trust and 

engagement is a key foundation. 

Fairness. We provide fair chances, to help people and communities thrive. If something does not 

seem fair, we will listen and help explain why. We will always try to treat everyone fairly and 

consistently. We cannot always make everyone happy, but will commit to listening and explaining 

why we did what we did.  

Flexibility. We will continue to change and be flexible to enable delivery of the most effective and 

efficient services. This means a genuine commitment to working with everyone to embrace new 

ways of working. 

Teamwork. We will work with you and our partners to support and inspire everyone to get involved 

so we can achieve great things together. We don’t see ourselves as the ‘fixers’ or problem-solvers, 

but we will make the best of the ideas, assets and resources available to make sure we do the 

things that most positively impact our people and places. 

Kindness: We will show kindness to all those we work with putting the importance of relationships 

and the connections we have with one another at the heart of all interactions. 



 

 

 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Standards Committee held 
at Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr USK on Monday, 9th October, 2023 at 

10.00 am 
 

 
 
 

PRESENT:  
 

County Councillors: Fay Bromfield and Frances Taylor 
 
Independent Members: Richard Stow (Chair), Peter Easy, Rhian 
Williams-Flew 
 
Community Committee Member: Michael John   
 

 

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
Amy Gullick Local Democracy Officer 
Joanne Chase Solicitor and Deputy Monitoring Officer 
Ben Davies Solicitor and Deputy Monitoring Officer  

 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence  

 
County Councillor Catherine Fookes and Marion Gibson  
 
2. Declarations of Interest  

 
County Councillor Frances Taylor declared a personal, prejudicial interest pursuant to the 
Members’ Code of Conduct in respect of agenda item 14.  
 
3. Minutes of the Previous Meeting  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 12th June 2023 were approved as an accurate record.  
 
In doing so, it was noted that the Constitution of the Committee contained in the agenda front 
sheet was incorrect and should be amended to read: 

 M. John (Community Representative) 
 
The Chair provided feedback on actions raised: 

 Item 5, Gifts and Hospitality Policy: The chair confirmed that the new learning 
management system and the anti-bribery and corruption training would be discussed 
under agenda item 9, code of conduct training. 
 

 We noted the Deputy Monitoring Officer had responded to the Welsh Government’s 
consultation on the Richard Penn report, which was submitted by the 23rd June.  
 

 Amendments to the Standards Committee Annual Report had been made and the final 
report went to Full Council on the 21st September. 

 
https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=62 
 
4. Adjudication Panel for Wales Annual Report 2022-23  

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=62


MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Standards Committee held 
at Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr USK on Monday, 9th October, 2023 at 

10.00 am 
 

The Chair explained that following the previous meeting, he had sent out the current APW 
Sanctions Guidance on the 17th June, as it was the committees intention to attend forthcoming 
hearings. However, committee members were unable to attend, as the four hearing that were 
considered, were not open to the public or media. Members noted the importance of keeping 
the document as a reference guide to compliment the Ombudsman Code of Conduct guidance.  
 
The Chair explained that the decision reports for the ‘paper determination’ hearings were all 
online, should members wish to view them.  
 
The committee noted that consultation on the unification of the 7 tribunals started on the 19th 
June and closed on the 2nd September.  
 
During discussion, we noted that the judiciary was promoting open justice and that there is a 
push for Tribunals and the Court of Protection to have applications for open justice that are 
considered before the case is heard.  
 
The Chair agreed to follow up the matter, as the committee did include open justice in their 
consultation response. In addition, the contact and responsiveness to emails would also be 
raised as a concern.  
 
 
The Chair briefed the committee on the Annual Report and during discussion the following 
points were raised: 

 We noted the number of references and appeals received, which averaged 3 or 4 a year, 
which was felt to be a relatively small number. 

 The number one breach was disrepute, code paragraph 6(1)(a). 

 4 case tribunals in 2022/23, of which, 3 were ‘on the papers’ and one online.  
 
 
https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=249 
 
5. PSOW Annual Report 2022-23  

 
The Chair provided the committee with an overview of the key findings from the PSOW Annual 
Report and during discussion the following points were noted: 

 Code of Conduct complaints were down 4% from the previous year. 

 During the year, 280 cases were closed: almost no change on the previous year. 

 In the current year, 35 were investigated, 12 were referred, with 8 going to Standards 
Committees and 4 went to the Adjudication Panel. Therefore, out of the 280, 
approximately 1 in 8 were investigated and 1 in 3 of those investigated were referred. 

 Compared to last years statistics, this appears to be a better year for conduct. 

 The Chair expressed concern that the breakdown of the code of conduct complaints 
were based on the Nolan principles and that it would be more useful to use the code 
paragraph numbers, as used by the Adjudication Panel.  

 61% of complaints that were valid, were about the ‘Promotion of Equality and Respect’. 
It was felt that this was too big a category to understand the severity of the situation.  

 It was also felt that Bullying and Harassment should be given its own category, given the 
possible severity of the instances.  

 We noted within the Key Performance Indicators that the target number of cases closed 
within 12 months was 90%, however only 66/67% of cases were actually closed. 

 

Page 2

https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=249


MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Standards Committee held 
at Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr USK on Monday, 9th October, 2023 at 

10.00 am 
 

It was agreed that the Chair would write to the Public Services Ombudsman, asking if code 
paragraphs can be used and if the complaint subject ‘Promotion of Equality and Respect’ can 
be broken down into different categories, as 61% is too large a category to understand the 
incidents. 
 
https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=1388 
 
6. PSOW Annual Letter to MCC dated 17th August 2023  

 
The Chair provided an overview of the PSOW Annual Letter for Monmouthshire County Council. 
We noted that the previous Monitoring Officer had written to the Public Services Ombudsman to 
request sight of the letter earlier, to enable the Committee to complete its annual report as the 
letter contained the complaint scores for the Council, but it was not received in time.  
 
We noted that there was only 1 complaint about a member of Monmouthshire County Council, 
which was discontinued. Amongst the Town and Community Councils there were only 5 
received which PSOW decided not to investigate.   
 
It was explained that the letter should also go to Cabinet and the Governance and Audit 
Committee for information.  
 
 
https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=1895 
 
7. MCC Conduct Complaint Data 2015 - 2023  

 
The Chair provided members of the committee with a table of the conduct complaints about 
Monmouthshire County Council Members, determined by the Public Services Ombudsman 
between 2015 – 2023, to accompany the annual letter. 
 
We noted that between 2015 – 2023, no complaints had been referred to the Standards 
Committee and only one had been referred to the Adjudication Panel in 2017-18.  
 
https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=1997 
 
8. PSOW Code of Conduct Complaints Process  

 
The Committee were presented with the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales Code of 
Conduct Complaints Process summary. The committee were reminded of previous discussions 
in February regarding the proposed changes to the Code of Conduct Complaints process and 
we noted that members’ views on the changes were mixed at the time. 
 
The Chair confirmed that the summary document was attached to the agenda for information 
only.  
 
https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=2141 
 
9. Code of Conduct Training  

 
The Committee were informed that there had been no requests for Code of Conduct Training 
since the last meeting. 
 

Page 3

https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=1388
https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=1895
https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=1997
https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=2141


MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Standards Committee held 
at Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr USK on Monday, 9th October, 2023 at 

10.00 am 
 

We heard that Planning Committee members had been receiving more training, which may 
have been a result of a previous request made at the Standards Committee. 
 
We were informed that there was a separate Code of Conduct document for the Planning 
Committee to that of the Council’s Code of Conduct in the Constitution. The Chair would raise 
this with the new Monitoring Officer, as there are questions on its ownership, training needs and 
why is it not contained in the Constitution.   
 
It was suggested that it would be useful for Planning Committee members to receive Code of 
Conduct refresher training. 
 
Questions were raised as to whether all co-opted members had received training and we noted 
that it would be useful for training records to be contained in the new learning management 
system that was being developed by Democratic Services.  
 
It was agreed that the Democratic Services Officer would follow up on whether there were any 
co opted members on any other Committee’s outside of the Standards Committee and 
Governance and Audit Committee.  
 
The Chair also requested the inclusion of the Gifts and Hospitality Policy in the Anti Bribery & 
Corruption training and information on who provides the training.  
 
The chair agreed to discuss the requirement for follow-up code of conduct training for MCC 
members (based on scenarios/examples) with the new Monitoring Officer. 
 
https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=2242 
 
County Councillor Frances Taylor left the meeting at the close of this item.   
 
10. Annual Report of the Standards Committee for 2022-23 - presented at Council on 

21st September 2023  
 
The Chair informed the Committee that the Annual Report of the Standards Committee for 
2022/23 was taken to Council on the 21st September 2023 and no questions were raised at the 
meeting.  
 
https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=3688 
 
11. Welsh Government Guidance for s 62 & s 63 LGE21 - published on 15th June 2023  

 
We noted that the Welsh Government had published its guidance on the two new duties under 
section 62 and 63 on the 15th June 2023. At the meeting of the Standards Committee in March 
2022, members looked at the draft guidance and felt they did not need to put in a response to 
the consultation. It was explained that the new duties came into force in May 2022 and the 
Monitoring Officer made all Political Group Leaders aware of the new duties placed on them 
and noted the new duties placed on the Standards Committee. 
 
We were presented with information relevant to the committee, which was contained in Part 2 of 
the document, under sections 4-7. The Chair provided an overview of the changes that had 
been included since the draft document. In doing so, the following points were noted: 
 

 Paragraph 4.29 - the requirement for Political Group Leaders to keep records of steps 
they have taken. 

Page 4

https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=2242
https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=3688


MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Standards Committee held 
at Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr USK on Monday, 9th October, 2023 at 

10.00 am 
 

 Paragraph 4.36 – Political Group Leaders should meet with the Standards Committee on 
several items detailed.   

 Members expressed concerns over the prescriptiveness of the new duties imposed on 
both Political Group Leaders and the Standards Committee. 

 A number of questions were raised on the implementation of the new responsibilities that 
would need to be raised with the new Monitoring Officer. 

 We noted that there was now a duty placed on the Standards Committee to establish the 
threshold on what they are content with the Political Group Leaders complying with.  

 Members felt that there was a significant shift in the committees’ terms from that of 
oversight and guidance, to active involvement. Members noted that the guidance states 
they should be providing advice on statutory guidance, which the committee felt that as 
independent members, they should remain at arm’s length to operational matters.  

 Paragraph 5.7 – Standards Committee should play a proactive role in promoting and 
supporting high standards of conduct in Town and Community Councils. We noted that 
One Voice Wales provided support and training to the community councils.  

 Paragraph 5.10 – Standards Committee to regularly review the approach taken in 
respect of gifts and hospitality. 

 Paragraph 6.4 – Standards Committee should meet with group leaders at the beginning 
of each council year.  

 A question was raised relating to the training records for Town and Community Council 
and it was agreed that information would be sought on what the provisions of the training 
plan were. 

 A further query was raised as to whether Planning Officers would be interested in 
providing a training session open to all Town and Community Councils.  

 Members noted that the Standards Committee cannot mandate any training, as stated in 
paragraph 7.7.  

 Paragraph 7.8 – we noted the requirement for the Standards Committee Annual Report 
to be shared with the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales and Town and Community 
Councils.  

 
Members expressed serious concerns regarding the new duties, which in effect, change the 
role of the Standards Committee without justification or explanation of what is felt is wrong 
with the current model.  
 
The chair agreed to contact One Voice Wales to see if they would provide information on 
training delivered to town and community councils in Monmouthshire. 

 
https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=3816 
 
 
12. Provisional Meeting Dates for 2024-25:  

 
We noted the provisional meeting dates for 2024–25.  
 
13. Date of Next Meeting - 26th February 2024  

 
Noted.  
 
14. Ombudsman Decision Notices  

 
It was agreed to defer the item to a future meeting of the Standards Committee when the new 
Monitoring Officer is in post.  

Page 5

https://www.youtube.com/live/DJc0_otfvbY?feature=shared&t=3816


MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Standards Committee held 
at Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr USK on Monday, 9th October, 2023 at 

10.00 am 
 

 
 

The meeting ended at 11.50 am  
 

 

Page 6



 

 

Page 1 

 

 
 
 

 
Subject: Planning Code of Practice 
 

Meeting:        Standards Committee 
 
Date:              11th March 2024 
 
Divisions/Wards Affected: All 

 

 
1. PURPOSE: 
  
1.1 To update the Standards Committee in relation to the Planning Code of Practice. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
2.1 That Standards Committee notes the position in relation to the Planning Code of 

Practice, attached at Appendix 1. 
 
3. KEY ISSUES: 
 
3.1 At a meeting of the Standards Committee on 9th October 2023 members noted that 

there was a document entitled a ‘Planning Code of Practice’ which appeared to 
prescribe rules and procedures for the meetings of Planning Committee, but did not 
appear in the Council’s constitution. The Chair of the Standards Committee raised this 
issue with the new Monitoring Officer in November 2023 and asked him to clarify the 
status of the document at the next meeting of the Standards Committee. 

 
3.2 The Monitoring Officer has reviewed the position with colleagues in the planning 

department and noted that although the Code of Practice appeared to prescribe 
procedural rules and best practice guidance for both members and officers involved in 
the planning process, it was unclear what status the document had, in that it did not 
form part of the Council’s constitution and had not been reviewed for several years.  

 
3.3 Further, as the purpose of the Code of Practice is to provide procedural rules and 

guidance, it is the view of the Monitoring Officer that it should be incorporated into the 
Council’s constitution.  

 
3.4  The Monitoring Officer asked planning colleagues to review the Code of Practice with 

the support of the Council’s Planning Lawyer to ensure that it was up to date with 
current law and guidance. 

 
3.5  A revised Code of Practice has now been prepared (attached at Appendix 1). This 

document was approved by a meeting of the Planning Committee on 6th February 2024 
subject to the approval of Council. 

 
3.6 Members are asked to note that in order for the revised Code of Practice to be 

incorporated into the Council’s constitution, it must be approved by a meeting of 
Council in due course. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Page 2 

 
 
4.  REASONS 
 
4.1 To ensure that rules and procedures of the Planning Committee are appropriately 

incorporated into the Council’s constitution. 
 
 
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1  There are no immediate financial impacts arising from the proposals. 
 
6. WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS IMPLICATIONS (INCORPORATING 

EQUALITIES, SUSTAINABILITY, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE 
PARENTING) 

  
6.1  No implications. 

 
 

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 Appendix 1 – Planning Code of Practice 
 
 
AUTHOR: 
 
James Williams  
Chief Officer Law & Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
jameswilliams@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 

 
 

Page 8

mailto:jameswilliams@monmouthshire.gov.uk


- 1 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING CODE OF PRACTICE 

Page 9



- 2 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

 
 
 

 
Monmouthshire County 

Council 

Cyngor Sir Fynwy 

 
Planning Code of Practice 

 

Contents 

1.0 Introduction ...................................................................................................... 3 
2.0 Elected Members ............................................................................................. 3 
2.1 Planning Committee Members ......................................................................... 3 
2.2  Members of the Planning Committee who are also Members of 
 Community/Town Councils .............................................................................. 4 
2.3 Local Ward Members who are not Members of Planning Committee ............... 4 
2.4 All Members ..................................................................................................... 5 
3.0 Officers ............................................................................................................ 5 
4.0 Operation of the Delegation System ................................................................. 6 
5.0 Discussions Before and During Applications and on Enforcement Matters ...... 7 
6.0 Lobbying of Members of the Planning Committee ............................................ 8 
7.0 Planning Applications Submitted by Members, Community/Town Councils & 

 Officers ............................................................................................................ 8 
8.0 Planning Applications Submitted by the Council ............................................... 9 
9.0 Officers’ Reports to the Planning Committee .................................................... 9 
10.0 Procedure at Planning Committee .................................................................. 10 
11.0 Planning Committee Site Inspections ............................................................. 11 
12.0 Planning Committee Decisions Contrary to Officer Recommendation ............. 11 
13.0 Appeals against Council Decisions ................................................................. 12 
14.0 Town and Community Councils ...................................................................... 13 
15.0 Member Training ............................................................................................ 13 
16.0 Review of Decisions ....................................................................................... 13 

Page 10



- 3 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

Monmouthshire County 
Council 

Cyngor Sir Fynwy 

 

 
Planning Code of Practice 

 

 

1.0 Introduction 

 
1.1 This Code of Practice is intended to guide the procedures by which 

Councillors (‘Members’) and Officers of the Council deal with planning matters 
and to set standards of probity and conduct expected of them. Monmouthshire 
County Council will seek to adopt best practice in its administration of the 
planning process.   It recognises that the public expects the Council to 
subscribe to the principles of fairness, consistency and objectivity. Members of 
the Planning Committee have a key role in ensuring that these principles are 
followed and the Council has stated that the Planning system must be fair 
and open. Elected Members are critically important in arbitrating between 
competing arguments. 

 
1.2 The Town and Country Planning system involves the Council taking 

decisions about private proposals for the development and use of land, but 
in the public interest. Planning law requires that all planning applications be 
determined in accordance with the adopted development plan unless 
material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Council must also 
take account of representations made by members of the public, in as far as 
they relate to material planning considerations. 

 
1.3 As the planning system affects people's lives and private interests it can be 

very contentious. It is therefore important that members of the public 
understand the system and has confidence in its integrity and transparency, 
and that Members and Officers avoid impropriety or even the suspicion of 
impropriety.  

 

1.4 Members and Officers must not only ensure that their conduct accords with 
the Code of Conduct for Members and professional standards for officers 
(which cover such matters as declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality), 
but, when dealing with planning matters, also act in accordance with this 
Planning Code of Practice. 

1.5 A breach of this code, while not usually amounting to a breach of criminal 
law, may adversely affect the standing and reputation of the Council. It could 
result in a decision being judicially reviewed and the planning permission being 
quashed by the Court or in a complaint of maladministration or an allegation of 
a breach of the Code of Conduct for Members being made to the Public 
Services Ombudsman for Wales.   

 
1.6 If Members or Officers are in doubt about the application of this Code, they 

should seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer. 
 
2.0 Elected Members 
 
2.1 Planning Committee Members 

Page 11



- 4 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

 
 

 Planning Committee Members should: 

 

 act fairly and openly and avoid any actions which would give rise to an 
impression of bias 

 

 avoid inappropriate social contact with applicants and their agents, 
objectors and other interested parties. 

 
It is a matter for each individual member to decide what constitutes inappropriate 
contact, however, it is important that any contact is not out of the ordinary and 
does not give the impression to others that the nature of the contact is 
inappropriate. 

 

 approach each planning application/issue with an open mind 
 

 not organise support or opposition to a planning application 
 

 carefully weigh up all relevant planning issues before making a decision  
 

 make decisions purely on planning grounds in the public interest and not 
favour, or appear to favour, any person, company, group or locality. In this 
respect, while Committee Members have a special duty to their Ward 
constituents, including those who did not vote for them, their over-riding duty 
is to the whole community. 

 

 not decide how to vote on applications on the basis of a political ‘whip’, but 
on the planning merits of each case. (The view of the Ombudsman is that 
subjecting a planning decision to the discipline of the political whip could 
amount to maladministration) 

 

 ensure that the reasons for their decisions are clearly stated 
 

 With the coming into force of section 25 of the Localism Act 2011 if a 
member does or says anything prior to the planning committee considering 
the planning application, the member will not be judged to have a closed 
mind just because of what the member says or does. However, it is 
essential that the member when attending the planning committee takes into 
account all relevant planning considerations before making a decision on the 
planning application. 

 
2.2 Members of the Planning Committee who are also Members of 

Community/Town Councils 

Membership of a Community/Town Council provides an opportunity to listen to local 
views and does not of itself give rise to a conflict of interest for a Planning Committee 
Member provided he/she complies with the requirements of this code of practice 
particularly when considering all the evidence and arguments presented to the 
Planning Committee. 

 
If the Member is present at a meeting of the Community/Town Council (or one of its 
committees) when a planning application/matter is under consideration, he/she can 
play a full part including entering into discussion, asking questions and even voting. 

Page 12



- 5 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

 
However, regardless of the planning committee member’s previous statements and 
actions, the member must make the decision at planning committee taking into 
account only relevant material planning considerations. 

 
2.3 Local Ward Members who are not Members of Planning Committee 
 
Where an application is considered by Planning Committee Local Ward Members have 
the right to attend the Planning Committee (or Delegation Panel and site inspections 
by committee or panel) to speak on any planning matter (subject to declarations of 
interest) but may not vote. Such Members do not act in the decision-making role 
performed by planning committee members. 

 
In appropriate circumstances the local ward member of an adjacent ward may also 
have the same rights as if they were the local ward member. Where an application 
has wider implications, the Chairman may exercise discretion and allow other members 
to address committee. 

 
When attending meetings of the Planning Committee, Councillors who are not 
members of the Committee shall sit separately from Committee Members - whether 
or not they intend to address the Committee - and unless invited to do so by the 
Chairman shall not communicate with the Committee Members during the meeting. 

 
Non-Committee Members can address the Committee after the officer has introduced 
the application and before any other speakers. 

 
2.4 All Members 

 
Local Ward Members represent their electoral division and the County as a whole. Any 
member can make representations on planning applications. Where the local ward 
member in whose division the application is located wishes an application to be 
considered by Planning Committee or the Delegation Panel they shall inform officers 
in writing either by letter or email to that effect and give relevant material planning 
reasons for the request. The views of the Local Ward Member will be included in the 
application report. “Planning reasons” in relation to the Local Ward Member request 
means a brief statement outlining the material considerations that justify the application 
being considered by Planning Committee or the Delegation Panel. 

Members shall not pressure Officers to make particular recommendations in reports. 
This will be a clear breach of the Code of Conduct for Members. 

 
3.0 Officers 

 
3.1 The function of Officers is to carry out the administrative and executive 

functions in support of the planning process and to give professional advice 
to the public and Councillors. 

 
3.2 The Chief Officer – Communities & Place makes decisions on the majority of 

planning applications under officer delegated powers and makes 
recommendations on more significant and contentious applications and other 
planning matters for decision by the Planning Committee of the Council. The 
local member in whose ward the application site is located can ask for any 
planning application to be referred to the Planning Committee for a decision 
rather than by officer delegated powers but must give material planning 
reasons for doing so. Some of the decisions under officer delegated powers 

Page 13



- 6 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

are exercised in consultation with the Delegation Panel. 
 
3.3 In considering applications and in advising Members and the public on 

planning policy, the determination of planning applications, enforcement and 
other planning matters, Planning Officers shall:  

 act fairly and openly and avoid any actions which would give rise to an 
impression of bias 
 

 avoid inappropriate social contact with applicants and their agents, objectors 
and other interested parties 

 

 carefully weigh up all relevant planning issues 
 

 make decisions purely on planning grounds having regard to the development 
plan and other material considerations 

 

 give professional, objective and consistent planning advice 
 

 provide a comprehensive and accurate analysis of the planning issues 
 

 Give a clear recommendation 
 

 carry out the decisions of the Committee 
 

 not be allocated a planning application to case manage if they are 
considered to have a personal interest in, or have a perceived personal 
interest in that application 

 

 abide by  the  Royal  Town  Planning  Institute's  Code  of  Professional 
Conduct. 

 
3.4 The Council’s Legal Officers advise Members on legal and procedural matters. 

In doing so, they must:  
 

 act fairly and openly and avoid any actions which would give rise to an 
impression of bias 

 

 avoid inappropriate social contact  with  applicants  and  their  agents, 

objectors and other interested parties 
 

 give professional, objective and consistent advice 
 

 carry out the decisions of the Committee so far as they relate to the 
completion of any legal agreement, institution/defence of proceedings etc. 

 
4.0 Operation of the Delegation System and the Role of the Delegation Panel 

 

4.1 The Council will operate a scheme of delegation of decisions to officers. 
The scheme defines matters to be determined by officers in consultation 
with the Delegation Panel (Chairman, Vice Chairman and Opposition 
Spokesperson of Planning Committee) and those wholly delegated to officers. 

 
4.2 The published lists of applications and application details will not indicate 

whether an application is to be dealt with under delegated powers as the 
status of an application may change during the processing stages. In 

Page 14



- 7 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

addition, the Chief Officer or Head of Service may specify that an application 
be put to Committee if it involves controversial issues. 

 
4.3 Panel meetings will be arranged regularly to consider applications that fall to 

be considered by the Delegation Panel. A list of applications or other matters 
that are proposed to be determined under delegated powers will be presented 
to the Delegation Panel. This will be known as the Delegation List. There 
should be a minimum of two members present at the Delegation Panel meeting. 

 
4.4 The Delegation List shall specify the detail of the application with the 

officer recommendation. 
 
4.5 There will be a report prepared on each application or other matter to be 

determined under officer delegated powers. The report shall include a 
description of the proposal, planning history, an adequate summary of 
objections/representations, relevant policies, a professional appraisal and 
recommendation. Any comments by Community or Town Councils, which 
are counter to the recommendation, should be specifically addressed in the 
professional appraisal, under the title: 'Response to Town/Community Council 
Representations'. 

 
The Relevant Officers: Officer recommendations and decisions on delegated 
decisions can only be authorised by: 
 

 Chief Officer – Communities & Place 

 Head of Placemaking, Housing, Highways and Flood 

 Head of Planning 

 Development Services Manager (DSM) 

 Heritage Manager 

 Development Management (DM) Area Manager 

 
4.6 The Delegation Panel cannot determine planning matters. Officers consult 

with the Panel on those matters identified in the Delegation Scheme. The 
Panel can require that an application or other matter is presented to Planning 
Committee and will identify any application or other matter that is not to be 

delegated. The DSM, DM Area Manager or where appropriate, the case officer 
shall present each application on the agenda to the Panel. The Panel Members 
may ask the officers questions for clarification. The Panel Members will then 
come to a view on the proposal and decide whether a) the application can be 

delegated to officers to determine as per the recommendation, or b) be referred 
to Planning Committee for determination.   

 
4.7 The meeting outcomes shall be delivered verbally at the meeting and the 

recording of this saved on the DM Team’s IT system. 

4.8 Where the Council receives objections and officers recommend approval 
before an application is determined officers will: 

 Provide a copy of the officer evaluation to the Panel members, the 
local ward member and the local community or town council 

 

 The local member may attend the Panel but should contact the Chair 
and officers to agree and arrange this 

 

Page 15



- 8 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

 At the discretion of the Chair, the Panel may agree to meet an 
applicant and a third party on site where it is considered that certain 
planning issues warrant more detailed, direct discussion. This will, 
however, be the exception rather than the norm in that the officer 
report and presentation should normally be sufficient in setting out the 
planning issues and in coming to a balanced recommendation. If this 
circumstance applies, the applicant and third parties will be invited to 
make their views to the Panel Members separately before the Panel 
Members debate the proposal and make a decision 

 

4.9 The Delegation Panel will also form a Design Panel to allow members to 
contribute to the design process of a development at an early stage. The 
Panel will convene as and when required and will consider applications for 10 
or more dwellings or non-residential development of 1,000 sq.m. or more and 
other applications that may raise important design issues. The 
applicant/agent will be invited to attend as will any other relevant parties. The 
local ward member will be invited to attend. The role of the Design Panel will 
be to advise on design aspects of the application. The Design Panel will not 
give any indication on the outcome of the application. 

 
5.0 Discussions Before and During Applications and on Enforcement Matters 

 
5.1 Discussion and negotiation are essential in the planning process as they 

can bring about improvements that can make an application acceptable or 
otherwise remedy problems. The Council encourages this discussion and 
negotiation. 

 
5.2 Such discussions will normally take place at officer level and Members 

shall, wherever possible, refer requests for such advice to the Officers. 

 
5.3 Where Members feel that a formal meeting would be useful in clarifying the 

issues, they should never seek to arrange that meeting themselves but should 
request the Head of Planning or the Development Services Manager to 
organise it. The officer(s) will then ensure that those present at the meeting are 
advised from the start that the discussions will not bind the authority to any 
particular course of action. The meeting can be attended by the Delegation 
Panel depending on the scale and/or implications of the proposal and the Local 
Ward Member for the ward in which the application site is located (see par.4.8 
above). Other Ward Members in the locality may attend where the application 
has wider implications. 

 
5.4 Members may also attend presentations by applicants or developers but 

should either have an officer present or have made officers aware of it and 
officers have discussed it with Members or briefed them on it.  

 
5.5 At all times Members should have regard to the Council’s Code of Conduct 

for Members and the Planning Code of Practice. 

 
5.6 All Officers taking part in discussions shall: 

 
 make clear whether or not they are the decision maker for the purposes 

of the application/issue under discussion 
 

 make clear that only personal and provisional views can be 

Page 16



- 9 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

expressed which will not bind the Council to reach a particular decision 
when determining an application 

 

 express views in the context of the development plan and other 
material planning considerations 

 
 

 be consistent in interpreting planning policies 
 

 advise applicants and neighbours/objectors on procedural matters. 
 
5.7 Occasionally local people or Community/Town Councils will arrange public 

meetings to discuss a current application and may invite the applicants, 
Members and Officers to attend. Given the need to avoid giving commitments 
and ensuring that an open mind on proposals is retained, Members of the 
Committee and Officers who attend  such  meetings  shall  use  them  for  fact-
finding, shall  not express a final opinion for or against the proposal and 
shall otherwise act in accordance with the guidance in this Code. 

 
6.0 Lobbying of Members of the Planning Committee 
 
6.1 Lobbying is the process by which applicants and their agents, neighbours, 

non-Committee Members and other interested parties seek to persuade 
Council Members on the Planning Committee to come to a particular decision. 
It is a legitimate part of the planning process for them to approach Members 
of the Planning Committee as these discussions can help Members to 
understand the issues and concerns. As stated in the Nolan Committee Third 
Report: “it is essential for the proper operation of the Planning system that 
local concerns are adequately ventilated”. 

 
6.2 In responding to approaches of this kind, Committee Members shall follow the 

nine principles outlined in Paragraph 2.1 above and may wish to make a record of 
the discussion, but may also:  

 
i) Explain the potentially conflicting position they are in if they express 

a final opinion on a proposal before consideration at the Committee/ by 
the Chief Officer 
 

ii) Explain the procedures by which representations can be made; that 
the public can speak at the Committee (subject to a number of conditions 
within the Public Speaking protocol being met) should the application come 

to the Committee for decision, and that a decision will be taken only 
when all relevant planning considerations have been taken into account 

 
iii) Explain the kinds of planning issues that the Council can take into 

account 
 

iv) Report issues raised to the Officers or direct the public to the Officers 
so that their views can be considered 

 
v) Advise the public to contact non-Committee Members who may be able 

to represent local views with less restraint. 

 

6.3 Where a Committee Member feels that they have been unreasonably or 

Page 17



- 10 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

excessively lobbied on a particular proposal they shall make a declaration at 

Planning Committee on that application that they have been lobbied. However, 

that Member shall still be able to speak and vote on the application if the guidance 

in Section 2 is adhered to. 

7.0 Planning Applications Submitted by Members, Community/Town 

Councils and Officers 

 
7.1 Where a Planning Application is submitted by or on behalf of the following: 

 
a. an Officer of the Council who works within the Planning Department 

or who has an involvement in the Planning Application process 
(except in any instance where the application has been submitted in 
their capacity as an employee of the Council) 

 
b. an elected or co-opted Member of the Council; or 

 
c. c.by an individual who has a close personal relationship with either of 

the above; the application shall be considered by Planning 
Committee.  

 
7.2 The Member that is affected shall declare an interest and take no part in 

the decision. 
 

7.3 The Officer that is affected shall record his/her interest and take no part in 
the decision. 

 
7.4 Where a Community/Town Council submits a planning application, the 

County Council Members who are also Members of that Community/Town 
Council should disclose their interest and withdraw from further 
consideration of the matter. 

 
8.0 Planning Applications Submitted by the Council 

 
8.1 It is critical that the Council is seen to be treating applications for its own 

development (or a development involving the Council and another party) on 
an equal footing with all other applications as well as actually doing so. 

 
8.2 All such proposals will be subject to the same administrative processes, including 

consultation, as all other applications with consideration being made in accordance 

with policy and any other material planning consideration.  
 

8.3 The following applications will be considered under the Delegation Panel 
process: 

  
(i) where the application is by or on behalf of the Council and there are no 

material planning objections to the proposed development; and 
 

(ii) the application is for development on Council-owned land or in which the 
Council has a direct interest and there are no material planning 
objections to the proposed development 
 

Where any applications by or on behalf of the Council receive one or more 
material planning objections they shall be considered by Planning Committee.  

 

Page 18



- 11 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

8.4 Where a Member of Planning Committee has a Cabinet portfolio 
responsibility relating to an application, they shall declare that interest and not 
take part in the discussion or vote. 

 
9.0 Officers’ Reports to the Planning Committee 

 
9.1 All Planning matters considered by the Planning Committee will be the subject 

of full evaluation by officers and will include a recommendation. Such reports 
shall be comprehensive, but succinct in setting out the key planning (and legal) 
issues to be considered (in terms of the provisions of the development plan 
and other material planning considerations), the substance of any 
representations received and any relevant planning history. 

9.2 Any comments by Community or Town Councils, which are counter to the 
recommendation, should be specifically addressed in the professional 
appraisal, under the title: 'Response to Town/Community Council 
Representations'. Local Ward Member representations will also be addressed. 

 
9.3 A summary of late correspondence received since the report was prepared 

will be made available to the Committee and dispatched electronically to 
Members by close of business the day before Planning Committee meets. Late 
correspondence will be accepted for consideration up to a deadline of noon 
on the Friday before the Planning Committee after which it will not normally 
be taken into account unless it raises material planning or legal issues that 
have not already been considered in the officer report. “Received” means 
received by Planning Department staff at County Hall by post or electronically. 

 

9.4 When applications are presented to Planning Committee the Council’s 
Democratic Services Team will publish the agenda on the Council’s web site 
five clear working days before the meeting itself. In addition, the Planning 
Department will publish the officer evaluation for each application that is on 
the agenda on the respective electronic application file before the 
committee meeting itself to enable these to be viewed by the public.  

 
10.0 Procedure at Planning Committee 

10.1 The following procedure will be followed at Planning Committee: 
 

 The Chairman will identify the application to be considered 

 An officer will present a brief summary of the application and issues with   the 
recommendation 

 The Local Member, if not a member of Planning Committee will be invited to speak 
for a maximum of 4 minutes by the Chairman. The Local Member, at the 
discretion of the Chairman may be allowed to use their additional 2 minute 
summing up time at this point, if this is requested. 

 The representative of the community or town council will then be invited to 
speak for a maximum of 4 minutes by the Chairman 

 The Chairman will then invite, in turn, the objector and/or supporter to speak for 
a maximum of 4 minutes each 

 The Chairman will invite the Applicant or Appointed Agent (if applicable) to 

Page 19



- 12 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

speak for a maximum of 4 minutes.  

 Time limits will normally be strictly adhered to although the Chair will have 
discretion to amend the time having regard to the circumstances of the 
application or those speaking 

 Speakers may speak only once 

 Committee Members may then raise questions with officers 

 Planning Committee Members will then debate the application, commencing with 
the Local Member if a member of Planning Committee. Officers will not take any 
further questions unless it is to advise Members about a procedural or legal issue, 
or where they consider Members are deviating from material planning 
considerations.  

 Immediately before the application is put to the vote, the Local Member will be 
invited to sum up, speaking for no more than 2 minutes provided that they have 
not already used their 2 minute summing up time. 

 The community or town council representative or objector/supporter or 
applicant/agent may not take part in the Members’ consideration of the 
application and may not ask questions unless invited to by the Chair 

 Where an objector or supporter or applicant/agent or community or town council 
has spoken on an application, no further speaking by or on behalf of that group 
will generally be permitted in the event that the application is considered again at 
a future meeting of the committee, however regard will be had to special 
circumstances that may justify an exception. The final decision lies with the 
Chairman. 

 The Chairman’s decision regarding a procedural matter is final 

 When proposing a motion either to accept the officer recommendation or to 
make an amendment the Member proposing the motion shall state the motion 
clearly 

 When the motion has been seconded the Chairman shall identify the Members 
who proposed and seconded the motion and repeat the motion proposed. 
The names of the proposer and seconder shall be recorded 

 Members shall decline to vote in relation to any planning application unless t hey 
have been present in the meeting of the Planning Committee throughout the full 
presentation and consideration of that application. Where Members attend 
remotely, they shall be on camera at all times during the consideration of the 
application to be eligible to vote.  

 Any Member who abstains from voting shall consider whether to give a reason for 
their abstention 

 The Legal Officer shall count the votes and announce the decision. 
 

10.2 Public speaking at Planning Committee will be allowed strictly in accordance 
with the protocol attached in Appendix 1. The invitation to speak and the 
conduct of the meeting is at the discretion of the Chairman of Planning 
Committee. 

Page 20



- 13 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

11.0 Planning Committee Site Inspections 

11.1 Committee site inspections are fact-finding exercises which allow the 
Planning Committee to make a more informed decision than would otherwise 
be possible from only reading the officer’s report, listening to the officer 

presentation and considering the views expressed at the Committee meeting by 
interested parties. 

11.2 The purpose of a site inspection is to clarify issues of fact and such visits 
should only be held where the Committee cannot make an informed decision 
without seeing the site for themselves and the inspection would have 
substantial benefit. Examples of this include: 

 

 Where there are accusations that a plan is misleading 
 

 Overlooking into other people’s property 
 

 Visual prominence 
 

 Understanding the topography of the area 
 
 Examples where a site visit would not normally be appropriate include where: 
 

 purely policy matters or issues of principle are at issue 

 

 the Member simply disagrees with the conclusion reached in the report 
 

 the Member wishes to consider boundary or neighbour disputes 
 

 issues of competition 
 

 loss of property values 
 

 any other issues which are not material planning considerations. 
 
11.3 Members of Planning Committee will carry out the inspections with the local 

ward member being invited. The applicant (or agent) and objectors/supporters 
may attend but may only draw attention to matters of fact relating to the site, and at 

the Chairman’s discretion. The community or town council shall be invited to attend 
the site inspection. An officer shall attend to advise on the application. 

 
11.4 Members of Planning Committee shall not discuss the application, other than 

to clarify issues of fact, and shall not make a decision while on site.  
 
11.5 If a Member finds it necessary to visit a site alone (perhaps because it was 

not possible to attend the Committee inspection), they shall view it from public 
vantage points only, seek to  avoid discussion with interested parties, and,  if 
discussion occurs, make it clear that a decision will be taken when it has 
been discussed by the Committee. 

 
12.0 Planning Committee Decisions Contrary to Officer Recommendation 

 

12.1 Where the Committee does not accept the recommendation made by the 
Officers the application shall be deferred to the following Planning Committee 

Page 21



- 14 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

and brought back with reasons for refusal or conditions of approval as the 
case may be. 

12.2 It is important that full clear and convincing reasons are set out when any 
planning decision is made. Where an application is determined in accordance 
with the officer recommendation the officer report meets this requirement. 
However, when Members determine an application against the officer 
recommendation the primary record of the debate are the minutes together 
with the recording of the livestream of the meeting.  It is essential that Members’ 

reasons are recorded and that the minutes of the meeting incorporate a full, clear 
and accurate statement of the reasons. 

 
12.3 Where planning permission is refused contrary to officer advice, Members 

should be aware of the risk of an award of costs being made against the Council 
at a subsequent appeal. Advice on the award of costs is contained in the Welsh 
Government’s ‘Development Management Manual Section 12 Annex: Awards of 
Costs’. Of particular relevance to this protocol is the following advice in par. 3.9: 

 
“Local planning authorities are not bound to adopt, or include as part of their case, 
the professional or technical advice given by their own officers or received from 
statutory consultees. However, they are expected to show that they had 
reasonable planning grounds for taking a decision contrary to such advice and 
that they are able to produce relevant evidence to support their decision. If they 
fail to do so, costs may be awarded against the authority.” 

 
13 Appeals against Council Decisions 

 
13.1 Officers will normally organise the administration of an appeal but in a case 

where there is a refusal of planning permission contrary to the officer 
recommendation and the appellant seeks an informal hearing or public inquiry 
Members will be expected to help formulate and to present the Council’s case at 
the appeal. This is because under the Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI) 
Code of Professional Practice planning officers who are members of the 
Institute must not make statements purporting to be their own, but which are 
contrary to their bona fide professional opinion. At a case determined by 
written representations a link to the live stream of the debate and the minutes 
will normally be sufficient to summarise the Council’s case.  
 

13.2 Once the appeal has been lodged then at the next available Planning 
Committee, individual Members will be nominated to represent the Council’s 
case at the appeal. Other Members may attend to contribute or listen to the 
debate at the appeal hearing or inquiry. This is good practice in all appeals 
whether the decision was against officer advice or not. Members have an 
important role to play in appeals. The local ward member will be informed of 
the appeal. They and any other member may, within set deadlines, make 
written representations to the Inspector and may also appear at informal 
hearings or as a witness at inquiries. In doing so they should state 
whether they are acting in their capacity as the local Councillor or representing 
the Council’s case. 

 
13.3 Officers shall support Members who wish to attend the appeal and/or make 

representations and advise them on preparing and delivering evidence as well 
as on legal aspects. Where appropriate a nominated officer will be 
designated to assist and guide members before attending a hearing or 
inquiry and attend the hearing or inquiry with the member(s). However, the 

Page 22



- 15 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

officer will not be able to prepare or give evidence where that would be contrary 
to their professional views. 

 
14 Community and Town Councils 

 
14.1 Officer reports will specifically address community and town council objections. 

 
14.2 Community and town council clerks are notified by email when the agenda for 

Planning committee is published. It is the community or town council’s 
responsibility to register to speak in cases where they wish to address 
committee Members.  

 
14.3 Representatives of community and town councils will be permitted to attend 

planning committees and committee site inspections. 

 
14.4 A representative will be permitted to address the Committee on an application, 

at the discretion of the Chairman and in accordance with the Protocol on 
Public Speaking. 

 
14.5 Representatives will be expected to uphold the following principles:- 

 

 To observe the National Code of Local Government Conduct, particularly in 
the context of declarable interests. 
 

 Not to introduce information that is not a material planning consideration. 
 

15.0 Member Training 

 
15.1 The Council has decided that all members of the Council, not just those 

Members of the Planning Committee, shall undertake training. No Member shall 
sit on Planning Committee unless they agree to undertake such training. 

 
15.2 Members will be offered core training within three months of appointment to 

the Committee. This will cover planning procedures, the development plan and 
material planning considerations, probity and other subjects determined from 
time to time by Officers in consultation with the Members. 

 
15.3 Other training will be available in the form of additional sessions such as 

seminars on specific subjects. 

16.0     Review of Decisions 

 
16.1 To assess and improve the quality and consistency of decisions and thereby 

strengthen public confidence and assist in reviewing planning policy the 
Planning Committee will undertake an annual review of a sample of planning 
decisions made by the Committee. The review will include examples from a 
range of development types and shall include visits to the sites. 

 
16.2 The Planning Committee will formally consider the results of the review and 

decide whether it gives rise to the need for new policies, procedures and 
practices. 

 
16.3 The outcome of appeals against the decisions of the Council will be reported 

regularly to Planning Committee so that any lessons can be learned.  The 
outcome of enforcement cases and legal proceedings will also be reported 

Page 23



- 16 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

regularly to Members, including the local Member, to keep them abreast of 
progress. 

 
16.4 The Delegation Panel may from time to time review decisions made under 

officer delegated powers. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



- 17 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

 
 
 
Appendix 1 

 
Protocol on Public Speaking at Planning Committee 
 
Public speaking at Planning Committee will be allowed strictly in accordance with this 
protocol. You cannot demand to speak at the Committee as of right. The invitation to 
speak and the conduct of the meeting is at the discretion of the Chair of the Planning 
Committee and subject to the points set out below. The conventional protocol has been 
modified to allow public speaking via pre-recorded videos or to attend the meeting in 
person and address the Planning Committee. 
 
Who Can Speak? 
 
Community and Town Councils 
 
Community and town councils can address Planning Committee via a pre-recorded 
video or in person at the meeting. Only elected members of community and town 
councils may speak. Representatives will be expected to uphold the following 
principles: 
  

(i) To observe the National Code of Local Government Conduct.  
 

(ii) Not to introduce information that is not: 
 

 consistent with the written representations of their council, or 
 

 part of an application, or 
 

 contained in the planning report or file. 
 

When a town or community councillor has registered to speak in opposition to an 
application, the applicant or agent will be allowed the right of reply. 
 
Members of the Public 

 
Speaking will be limited to one member of the public opposing a development and one 
member of the public supporting a development. Where there is more than one person 
in opposition or support, the individuals or groups should work together to establish a 
spokesperson. The Chair of the Committee may exercise discretion to allow a second 
speaker, but only in exceptional cases where a major application generates divergent 
views within one ‘side’ of the argument (e.g. a superstore application where one 
spokesperson represents residents and another local retailers). Members of the public 
may appoint representatives to speak on their behalf. 
 
Where no agreement is reached, the right to speak shall fall to the first 
person/organisation to register their request. When an objector has registered to speak 
the applicant or agent will be allowed the right of reply. 
 
Speaking will be limited to applications where, at the date the Planning Committee 
agenda is published letters of objection/support or signatures on a petition have been 
submitted to the Council from 5 or more separate households/organisations (in this 
context organisations would not include community or town councils or statutory 

Page 25



- 18 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

consultees which have their own method of ensuring an appropriate application is 
considered at Committee).  
 
The number of objectors and/or supporters will be clearly stated in the officer’s report 
for the application contained in the published agenda. 
 
The Chair may exercise discretion to allow speaking by members of the public where 
an application may significantly affect a sparse rural area but less than 5 letters of 
objection/support have been received. 
 
Applicants 
 
Applicants or their appointed agents will have a right of response where members of 
the public or a community/town council, have registered to address committee in 
opposition to an application. This will also be via a pre-recorded video or in person at 
the Planning Committee meeting. 
 
When is speaking permitted? 
 
Public speaking will normally only be permitted on one occasion where applications are 
considered by Planning Committee. When applications are deferred and particularly 
when re-presented following a committee resolution to determine an application 
contrary to officer advice, public speaking will not normally be permitted. Regard will 
however be had to special circumstances on applications that may justify an exception. 
The final decision lies with the Chair. 
 
Registering Requests to Speak 
 
Speakers must register their request to speak as soon as possible, between 12 noon 
on the Tuesday and 12 noon on the Friday before the Committee. To register a request 
to speak, objectors/supporters must first have made written representations on the 
application. 
 
Anyone wishing to speak must notify the Council’s Democratic Services Officers of their 
request by calling 01633 644219 or by email to 
registertospeak@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 
Please leave a daytime telephone number. Any requests to speak that are emailed 
through will be acknowledged prior to the deadline for registering to speak. If you do 
not receive an acknowledgement before the deadline, please contact Democratic 
Services on 01633 644219 to check that your registration has been received. 
 
Parties are welcome to address the Planning Committee in English or Welsh, however 
if speakers wish to use the Welsh language, they are requested to make this clear 
when registering to speak and are asked to give at least 5 working days’ notice to allow 
the Council the time to procure a simultaneous translator. 
 
Applicants/agents and objectors/supporters are advised to stay in contact with the case 
officer regarding progress on the application. It is the responsibility of those wishing to 
speak to check when the application is to be considered by Planning Committee by 
contacting the Planning Office, which will be able to provide details of the likely date on 
which the application will be heard. The procedure for registering the request to speak 
is set out above. 
 
The Council will maintain a list of persons wishing to speak at Planning Committee. 

Page 26

mailto:registertospeak@monmouthshire.gov.uk


- 19 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

Once the request to speak has been registered by the Council the speaker, if not 
attending in person, must submit their pre-recorded video by midday on Monday before 
the Committee meeting. The video content must comply with the terms below and be 
no more than 4 minutes in duration.  
 
If the third party does not wish to record a video, they will need to submit a script to the 
Council by the deadline above, that will be read out by an officer to the Committee 
Members at the meeting. The script shall contain no more than 500 words and shall 
also comply with the terms below. Speakers will also have the option to attend the 
meeting in person and addressing Planning Committee. 
 
Content of the Speeches 
Comments by the representative of the town/community council or objector, supporter 
or applicant/agent should be limited to matters raised in their original representations 
and be relevant planning issues. These include: 
 

 Relevant national and local planning policies 
 

 Appearance and character of the development, layout and density 
 

 Traffic generation, highway safety and parking/servicing; 
 

 Overshadowing, overlooking, noise disturbance, odours or other loss of 
amenity. 

 
Speakers should avoid referring to matters outside the remit of the Planning 
Committee, such as: 
 

 Boundary disputes, covenants and other property rights 
 

 Personal remarks (e.g. Applicant’s motives or actions to date or issues about 
members or officers) 

 

 Rights to views or devaluation of property. 
 
Procedure at the Planning Committee Meeting 
 
The procedure for dealing with public speaking is set out below: 
 

 The Chairman will identify the application to be considered 
 

 An officer will present a brief summary of the application and issues with the 
recommendation 

 

 The Local Member, if not a member of Planning Committee will be invited to speak 
for a maximum of 4 minutes by the Chairman. The Local Member, at the 
discretion of the Chairman may be allowed to use their additional 2 minute 
summing up time at this point, if this is requested. 

 

 The representative of the community or town council will then be invited to 
speak for a maximum of 4 minutes by the Chairman 

 

 The Chairman will then invite, in turn, the objector and/or supporter to speak for 
a maximum of 4 minutes each 

Page 27



- 20 -Planning Code of Practice – Jan 2024 
 

 

 

 The Chairman will invite the Applicant or Appointed Agent (if applicable) to 
speak for a maximum of 4 minutes.  

 

 Time limits will normally be strictly adhered to although the Chair will have 
discretion to amend the time having regard to the circumstances of the 
application or those speaking 

 

 Speakers may speak only once 
 

 Committee Members may then raise questions with officers 
 

 Planning Committee Members will then debate the application, commencing with 
the Local Member if a member of Planning Committee. Officers will not take any 
further questions unless it is to advise Members about a procedural or legal issue, 
or where they consider Members are deviating from material planning 
considerations.  

 

 Immediately before the application is put to the vote, the Local Member will be 
invited to sum up, speaking for no more than 2 minutes provided that they have 
not already used their 2 minute summing up time. 

 

 The community or town council representative or objector/supporter or 
applicant/agent may not take part in the Members’ consideration of the 
application and may not ask questions unless invited to by the Chair 

 

 Where an objector or supporter or applicant/agent or community or town council 
has spoken on an application, no further speaking by or on behalf of that group 
will generally be permitted in the event that the application is considered again at 
a future meeting of the committee, however regard will be had to special 
circumstances that may justify an exception. The final decision lies with the 
Chairman. 

 

 The Chairman’s decision regarding a procedural matter is final 
 

 When proposing a motion either to accept the officer recommendation or to 
make an amendment the Member proposing the motion shall state the motion 
clearly 

 

 When the motion has been seconded the Chairman shall identify the Members 
who proposed and seconded the motion and repeat the motion proposed. 
The names of the proposer and seconder shall be recorded 

 

 Members shall decline to vote in relation to any planning application unless t hey 
have been present in the meeting of the Planning Committee throughout the full 
presentation and consideration of that application. Where Members attend 
remotely, they shall be on camera at all times during the consideration of the 
application to be eligible to vote.  

 

 Any Member who abstains from voting shall consider whether to give a reason for 
their abstention 

 

 The Legal Officer shall count the votes and announce the decision. 

Page 28



 

 

Page 1 

 

 
 
 

 
Subject: Local Resolution Protocol  
 

Meeting:        Standards Committee 
 
Date:              11th March 2024 
 
Divisions/Wards Affected: All 

 

 
1. PURPOSE: 
  
1.1 To seek the endorsement of the Standards Committee of a proposed Local Resolution 

Protocol to deal with low level member on member complaints in accordance with the 
guidance of the Public Sector Ombudsman for Wales (“the Ombudsman”). 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
2.2 That the Standards Committee endorses the Local Resolution Protocol attached at 

Appendix 1, subject to the approval of Council. 

  
3. KEY ISSUES: 
 
3.1 The Ombudsman expects Councils to establish local resolution procedures to reduce 

the number of complaints referred to the Ombudsman relating to ‘low-level’ behavioural 
issues between members, which typically arise in what may be regarded as the “cut 
and thrust” of normal Council debates and local politics. 

 
3.2 In the Ombudsman’s guidance on the Members’ Code of Conduct (paragraphs 1.17 

and 1.18), the Ombudsman states that “In my view such complaints are more 
appropriately resolved informally and locally in order to speed up the complaints 
process and to ensure that my resources are devoted to the investigation of serious 
complaints. The aim of local resolution is to resolve matters at an early stage so as to 
avoid the unnecessary escalation of the situation which may damage personal 
relationships within the authority and the authority’s reputation.” 

 
3.3 Welsh Government Guidance published in June 2023 states that the Standards 

Committee annual report must “confirm the operation of a local protocol for the 
resolution of complaints and provide an assessment of its impact”. 

 
3.4 Although the Council currently has some provision for the informal resolution of 

disputes within the constitution (the Protocol for Self-Regulation of Member Conduct), 
it does not yet operate a local resolution procedure as envisaged by the Ombudsman.  

 
3.5 The Local Resolution Protocol aims to seek the early resolution of ‘low level, member 

on member’ conduct complaints (often about an alleged failure to show respect and 
consideration) and avoid the unnecessary escalation of situations which may damage 
personal relationships within the Council and the Council’s reputation.  

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Page 2 

3.6  A draft Local Resolution Protocol is attached to this report as Appendix 1. 
 
3.7 The Local Resolution Protocol provides for a two-stage process for the local resolution 

of low level disputes. Stage One will involve the Monitoring Officer or other appropriate 
legal officer attempting to resolve the matter informally with the agreement of all parties 
concerned. Group Leaders may also be involved at this stage given their statutory 
obligations pursuant to s.52A Local Government Act 2000 to take reasonable steps to 
promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the members of their group, and 
to co-operate with the council's Standards Committee in the exercise of the Standards 
Committee's functions.   

 
3.8 If it is not possible to resolve the matter at Stage 1, the matter may proceed to Stage 

Two, which is a hearing of the Standards Committee. The procedural rules for the 
hearing are set out within the Local Resolution Protocol. 

 
3.9 Whilst members are not obliged to use the Local Resolution Protocol, and can continue 

at any time to refer the matter to the Ombudsman instead, the Ombudsman has made 
clear that members are in the first instance expected to exhaust local processes in 
relation to low level issues before referring a matter to the Ombudsman. 

 
3.10 If members endorse the attached Local Resolution Protocol, then it will need to be 

approved by a meeting of Council before being incorporated into the Council’s 
constitution and taking effect. 

 
 
4.  REASONS 
 
4.1 To ensure the Council operates a Local Resolution Protocol in accordance with the 

guidance issued by the Public Sector Ombudsman for Wales. 
 
 
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1  Any hearing conducted under Stage 2 will require resources in terms of officer and 

member time. Further, co-opted standards committee members are entitled to £210 
over 4 hours and £105 up to 4 hours. The chair of the committee is entitled to £268 for 
over 4 hours and £134 up to 4 hours. 

 
6. WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS IMPLICATIONS (INCORPORATING 

EQUALITIES, SUSTAINABILITY, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE 
PARENTING) 

  
6.1  No implications. 

 
 

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 Appendix 1 – Local Resolution Protocol  

 
 
AUTHOR: 
 
James Williams  
Chief Officer Law & Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
Email: Jameswilliams@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 30

mailto:Jameswilliams@monmouthshire.gov.uk


Monmouthshire County Council 

Local Resolution Protocol 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 This Protocol has been established in accordance with the Ombudsman's guidance 
on the Code of Conduct for Members (“the Code”) which states that "low-level, 
member-on member" complaints relating to  breaches of the Code should be dealt 
with at a local level. The aim of the Protocol is to avoid the unnecessary escalation 
of situations which may damage personal relationships within the Council and the 
Council’s reputation. 
 

1.2 This Protocol does not prevent members from referring any complaint to the 
Ombudsman if they wish. However, members should be aware that the 
Ombudsman has made it clear that, in normal circumstances, it is expected that in 
the first instance members should exhaust the procedures set out in this Local 
Resolution Protocol before referring low-level complaints to the Ombudsman. 
 

1.3 Whether or not a complaint is "low level" in nature will depend upon the individual 
circumstances of each case. However, the Ombudsman has indicated that 
‘typically these complaints will be about alleged failures to show respect and 
consideration for others as required by paragraph 4(b) of the Code or the duty not 
to make vexatious, malicious or frivolous complaints against other members under 
paragraph 6(1)(d) of the Code.’ 

 

1.4 If you are unsure whether a matter you wish to complain about is ‘low-level’, then 
you should seek advice from the Monitoring Officer. 
 

 

2. Scope 

 

2.1 In order to fall within the scope of this Protocol complaints must meet all three of 

the following criteria: 

 

 be made by a member of the Council and relate to a breach of the 

Member Code of Conduct; 

 

 be low-level in nature; and 

 

 not relate to repeated occurrences of similar conduct that has already 

been dealt with under this Protocol or by the Ombudsman. 

 

3. Procedure 

 

3.1 Complaints will be dealt with in accordance with the procedures set out below. 

 

3.2 It is important that any allegations made under the Protocol are dealt with quickly 

and effectively with the co-operation of all parties involved. Each party must make 

themselves available to attend a hearing held under the Protocol as a matter of 

priority and within the timescales set out in this Protocol.  

 

Page 31



3.3 If any member elects at any time to refer the matter to the Ombudsman for 

investigation, the Protocol process will be discontinued and cannot subsequently 

be resumed.  

 

3.4 Stage One - Making The Complaint And Informal Resolution 

 

3.4.1 Any member who wishes to submit an allegation under the Protocol should send 

the complaint to the Monitoring Officer. The complaint must be submitted to the 

Monitoring Officer within one month of the event that has given rise to the complaint 

occurring or, within one month of the substance of the complaint coming to the 

attention of the member submitting the allegation. 

 

3.4.2 The complaint must set out the relevant details of the behaviour or conduct 

complained of and which paragraphs of the Code the member believes has been 

breached. 

 

3.4.3 Following receipt of the complaint the Monitoring Officer will advise whether the 

allegation falls within the Protocol or whether the complainant(s) should instead 

consider referring the matter to the Ombudsman. 

 

3.4.4 If the Monitoring Officer determines that the allegation falls within the remit of the 

Protocol he/she will seek to try and resolve the matter informally with the 

agreement of all parties concerned. 

 

3.4.5 The relevant Group Leaders may also be involved at this stage given their statutory 

obligations pursuant to s.52A Local Government Act 2000 to take reasonable steps 

to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the members of their group 

and to co-operate with the council's Standards Committee in the exercise of the 

Standards Committee's functions.   

 

3.4.6 All parties involved at Stage One will take into account any advice and guidance of 

the Monitoring Officer. 

 

3.4.7 If the matter is not capable of resolution at Stage One the complainant may ask 

that the matter be considered by a hearing of the Standards Committee under 

Stage Two of this Protocol. 

 

3.4.8 The Chair of the Standards Committee will make a determination as to whether it 

is in the public interest for the matter to proceed to Stage Two. This determination 

will be final. In making this determination, the Chair of the Standards Committee 

must take into account the advice of the Monitoring Officer and any guidance of 

the Ombudsman.  

 

3.4.9 Stage Two – Standards Committee Hearing 

 

3.4.10 Member(s) making the complaint will be asked to re-confirm the substance of the 

complaint in writing to the Monitoring Officer, including identifying which 

paragraphs of the Code they believe have been breached, together with all the 

written evidence they wish to submit for consideration at the hearing. This written 

submission must be provided within two weeks of the member notifying the 

Monitoring Officer they wish the complaint to progress to Stage Two. 

Page 32



 

3.4.11 The member(s) who is the subject of that complaint must provide a written 

response to that complaint within one month of receipt of it, together with all written 

evidence they wish to submit for consideration at the hearing. 

 

3.4.12 The Monitoring Officer if he/she participated in Stage One will notify the Deputy 

Monitoring Officer or a Legal Officer of receipt of the complaint who shall thereafter 

have conduct of the matter. The relevant officer (“Legal Adviser”) will advise the 

Standards Committee on legal and procedural issues during this process and at 

the hearing. 

 

3.4.13 All members must respond promptly to all correspondence relating to the matter 

including requests to confirm availability in respect of scheduling the hearing itself. 

Member(s) will be given dates within a two month window in which they must 

confirm a date they are available to attend the hearing. 

 

3.4.14 The papers referred to in paragraphs 3.4.10 and 3.4.11 will be distributed to the 

members of the Standards Committee in accordance with the Council’s Access to 

Information Rules. 

 

3.4.15 No additional evidence may be produced without the prior consent of the Chair of 

the Standards Committee. 

 

3.4.16 Each member must give notification in writing to the Legal Adviser of any witnesses 

they intend to call to give evidence at the hearing. It is the responsibility of the 

member calling the witness to ensure that the witness is available to attend on the 

agreed date. 

 

3.4.17 If either side wishes not to be present or fails to attend, the hearing may be held in 

their absence.  

 

3.4.18 Should they deem it appropriate, the Standards Committee may invite Council 

officers to attend the hearing to answer any questions they may have relevant to 

the matter before it. 

 

3.4.19 The proceedings at the Standards Committee hearing shall be conducted in the 

following order: 

 

 Opening address by the Chairman; 

 

 The complainant will be invited to address the Committee to outline their 

complaint; 

 

 Committee members may ask the complainant questions about their 

complaint; 

 

 The member who is subject to the complaint will be invited to address the 

Committee; 

 

Page 33



 Committee members may ask that member questions about their 

submissions; 

 

 Witnesses for the complainant will be invited to address the Committee; 

 

 Committee members may ask those witnesses questions about their 

evidence; 

 

 Witnesses for the member who is the subject of the complaint will be invited 

to address the Committee; 

 

 Committee members may ask those witnesses questions about their 

evidence; 

 

 If any officers have been invited to attend the Standards Committee hearing 

to give evidence, then members of the Committee shall ask them questions 

at this stage; 

 

 The complainant will be invited to make any closing remarks, but shall not 

be permitted to introduce new evidence at this stage; 

 

 The member subject to the complaint shall be invited to make any closing 

remarks, but shall not be permitted to introduce new evidence at this stage; 

 

 The Standards Committee shall then retire to deliberate in private on the 

representations. The Committee must make a determination as to whether 

there has been a breach of the Code , and if so, whether a sanction should 

be imposed. In coming to their findings, the Standards Committee should 

seek and take into account the advice of the Legal Advisor. 

 

 The Standards Committee shall reconvene for the Chairman to announce 

the Committee’s finding. 

 

 

3.4.20 The Committee can come to one or more of the following determinations, namely:- 

 

i) that there is no basis to the complaint and no further action required; 

 

ii) that there is a basis to the complaint but that no further action is 

required in the public interest; 

 

iii) that there is a basis to the complaint and that the member should 

be censured at the next meeting of Council and/or additional action 

should be taken; 

 

iv) referral to the Ombudsman for investigation if the complaint is 

considered to be deserving of more serious sanctions than the 

Standards Committee has the power to impose. 

 

Page 34



3.4.21 During proceedings, members are not entitled to cross examine each other or each 

other’s witnesses. 

 

3.4.22 The Chair may at his/her sole discretion vary the procedure and order of the 

hearing to ensure a fair and efficient hearing. 

 

 

4. General 

 

4.1 Where complaints are considered under stage 1, the monitoring officer shall report 

to standards committee periodically the numbers and types of complaints involved, 

and whether a mutually acceptable resolution was achieved, but the parties names 

shall remain confidential 

 

4.2 The Stage Two hearing before the Standards Committee will generally be 

conducted in an open session of the Standards Committee, subject to the Council’s  

Access to Information Rules. 

 

4.3 Any member aggrieved by a decision under Stage Two  may refer the matter to the 

Public Sector Ombudsman for Wales. 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 

SCHEDULE 12A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
EXEMPTION FROM DISCLOSURE OF DOCUMENTS 

Meeting and Date of Meeting:  11th March 2024 

Report:       Standards Committee Decision Notice - PSOW 

Author:       James Williams, Chief Officer Law & Governance 
 

I have considered grounds for exemption of information contained in the background paper 

for the report referred to above and make the following recommendation to the Proper 

Officer:- 

Exemptions applying to the report: 

The report and appendices is exempt by virtue of the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, 

Part 4, paragraphs 12 and 21 in that it is information relating to a particular individual and the 

public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 

information. 

Factors in favour of disclosure: 

Openness & transparency in matters concerned with the public  

Prejudice which would result if the information were disclosed: 

It relates to information that would be exempt under Sch12A LGA, and the public interest in 

maintaining exemption does not outweigh the public interest in disclosure. These documents 

are shared with the Monitoring Officer in relation to his statutory role and the Ombudsman 

has permitted him to share them with the Standards Committee so as to assist them with the 

performance of their duties. 

My view on the public interest test is as follows: 

Factors in favour of disclosure are outweighed by those against. 

Recommended decision on exemption from disclosure: 

Maintain exemption from publication in relation to report 

Date:    1st |March 2024 
 

Signed:        J Williams 

    

Post:   Chief Officer Law & Governance 

 

I accept the recommendation made above 

Signed:     J Williams 

Chief Officer Law & Governance   Date:         1/3/24 

Page 37

Agenda Item 9



 

Page 38



Document is Restricted

Page 39

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 43

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 61

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 65

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 69

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 73

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 77

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 81

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 85

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 91

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 95

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 97

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting - 9th October 2023
	Minutes

	4 Planning Code of Practice
	Appendix 1 - Code of Practice - Revised Jan 2024

	5 Local Resolution Protocol
	Appendix 1 - MCC Local Resolution Protocol

	9 To consider whether to exclude the press and public from the meeting during consideration of the following items of business in accordance with Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, that it involves the information as defined in Paragraph 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A to the Act (proper officers view attached)
	10 Public Sector Ombudsman for Wales Decision Notices
	1a. Appendix 1 - Cover letter and 4 x decision notices
	1b. Appendix 1 - Decision Notice - 202303887
	1c. Appendix 1 - Decision Notice - 202304012
	1d. Appendix 1 - Decision Notice - 202304095
	1e. Appendix 1 - Decision Notice - 202304221
	1f. Appendix 1 -Decision Notice - 202303881
	1g. Appendix 1 -DECISION NOTICE - 202303967
	1h. Appendix 1- Decision Notice - 202304301
	1i. Appendix 1-DECISION NOTICE - 202303973
	2. Appendix 2 - Decision Notice - Brocklesby
	3. Appendix 3 -Decision Notice -Easson


